

The role of real wage rigidity and labor market frictions for unemployment and inflation dynamics

Kai Christoffel (European Central Bank)

Tobias Linzert (European Central Bank)

Discussion Paper Series 1: Economic Studies No 11/2006

Discussion Papers represent the authors' personal opinions and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Deutsche Bundesbank or its staff.

Editorial Board:

Heinz Herrmann Thilo Liebig Karl-Heinz Tödter

Deutsche Bundesbank, Wilhelm-Epstein-Strasse 14, 60431 Frankfurt am Main, Postfach 10 06 02, 60006 Frankfurt am Main

Tel +49 69 9566-1 Telex within Germany 41227, telex from abroad 414431, fax +49 69 5601071

Please address all orders in writing to: Deutsche Bundesbank, Press and Public Relations Division, at the above address or via fax +49 69 9566-3077

Reproduction permitted only if source is stated.

ISBN 3-86558-134-X (Printversion) ISBN 3-86558-135-8 (Internetversion)

Abstract

In this paper we incorporate a labor market with matching frictions and wage rigidities into the New Keynesian business cycle model. In particular, we analyze the effect of a monetary policy shock and investigate how labor market frictions affect the transmission process of monetary policy. The model allows real wage rigidities to interact with adjustments in employment and hours affecting inflation dynamics via marginal costs. We find that the response of unemployment and inflation to an interest rate innovation depends on the degree of wage rigidity. Generally, more rigid wages translate into more persistent movements of aggregate inflation. Moreover, the impact of a monetary policy shock on unemployment and inflation depends also on labor market fundamentals such as bargaining power and the flows in and out of employment.

Keywords: Monetary Policy, Matching Models, Labor Market Search, Inflation Persistence, Real Wage Rigidity JEL classification: E52, J64, E32, E31

Non-technical Summary

Europe's labor markets are characterized by firing costs, generous unemployment benefits and strong unions that are perceived to contribute to sluggish labor market adjustments. Moreover, the collective wage bargaining process is seen to prevent wages from adjusting instantaneously, introducing a substantial degree of wage rigidity. Therefore, rigidities and frictions in the labor market might be crucial for understanding sluggishness in firms' marginal cost and their price setting behavior.

In this paper, we stress the role of the labor market in determining firms' marginal cost and link labor market adjustments directly to the dynamics of inflation. For that reason, we introduce a labor market model with matching frictions into the New Keynesian business cycle framework. We particularly introduce a model with right-to-manage wage bargaining to incorporate a real wage rigidity in form of a social wage norm which has important implications for the joint dynamics of unemployment and inflation in our New Keynesian DSGE model.

The traditional New Keynesian dynamic stochastic general equilibrium model of business cycle fluctuations generally fails to account for the degree of inflation persistence observed in actual data. Therefore, we specifically explore the question whether the underlying labor market regime contributes to explaining inflation persistence. In particular, we analyze how different degrees of real wage rigidities affect the reaction of unemployment and inflation to a shock in monetary policy under different wage bargaining regimes. Moreover, we study the impact of a monetary policy shock on unemployment and inflation conditional on labor market fundamentals such as bargaining power of the workers and the flows in and out of employment.

We find that rigid real wages contribute to explaining persistent inflation. Employing a right-to-manage bargaining framework, wages feed directly into firm's marginal cost and hence into inflation dynamics via the New Keynesian Phillips curve. Introducing a real wage rigidity in form of a social wage norm, we can show that more rigid wages translate into more persistent movements of aggregate inflation. In contrast, the channel from wages to inflation is missing under the assumption of an efficient bargaining model and, therefore, fails to generate inflation persistence.

Our calibration also shows that unemployment and inflation dynamics do not only depend on rigid wages but also on the parameters that determine employment protection and bargaining power of workers. Generally, "institutional" parameters that raise the volatility in wages, increase also the response of inflation and tend to reduce its persistence. On the other hand, anything that spurs the volatility in labor flows, dampens the adjustments of wages and, therefore, tends to increase the persistence in inflation.

The model reveals that the labor market has important implications for the transmission process of monetary policy. The inclusion of a labor market into the New Keynesian model introduces another channel along which real and nominal rigidities can be incorporated into the model. The "labor market channel" significantly affects the dynamics of employment and inflation. In particular, real wage rigidity appears to play a key role in shaping marginal cost dynamics and, consequently persistent movement in inflation rates. Our model suggests that the central bank may benefit from closely monitoring the labor market. From the developments in real labor flows as well as real wage movements the central bank can infer on the dynamics and particularly, on the degree of persistence of the inflation rate. Therefore, differences in labor market regimes may help to explain inflation dynamics across countries.

Nicht-technische Zusammenfassung

Die europäischen Arbeitsmärkte sind durch hohe und anhaltende Arbeitslosigkeit sowie durch eine Vielzahl von Regulierungen gekennzeichnet. Weiterhin führt der kollektive Lohnsetzungsprozess zu einer reduzierten Lohnflexibilität und somit zu nominalen und realen Friktionen. Die Reaktion von Output und Beschäftigung auf exogene Schocks ist daher eng an den Grad der Flexibilität des Arbeitsmarktes geknüpft. Ein besseres Verständnis des Arbeitsmarktes kann daher hilfreich sein, um Konjunkturschwankungen im Allgemeinen und des Transmissionsprozess von Geldpolitik auf Inflation und Output im Besonderen zu verstehen.

Diese Studie untersucht den Einfluss des Arbeitsmarkets auf die Grenzkosten der Firmen und somit auf den monetären Transmissionsprozess. Wir schlagen ein Modell vor, das einen Arbeitsmarkt im Stile von Mortensen and Pissarides (1994) in ein Neukeynesianisches Konjunkturzyklusmodell einbindet. Darüberhinaus beinhaltet das Modell Lohnrigiditäten à la Hall (2005). In diesem Sinne verbindet unser Arbeitsmarktmodell Friktionen in Form von gleichgewichtiger Arbeitslosigkeit mit Lohnrigiditäten.

In der neueren makroökonomischen Literatur werden Neu-Keynesianische Modelle verwendet, um die Persistenz des Inflations- und Outputprozesses zu erklären. In diesen Modellen wird davon ausgegangen, dass sich Preise verzögert anpassen. Nominale Rigiditäten allein reichen jedoch nicht, um eine adäquate Modellierung der Dynamik von Inflation und Output zu ermöglichen. Unser Modell soll helfen, die Persistenz dieser Variablen zu erklären. Dabei stellen wir die besondere Rolle des Arbeitsmarktes heraus, die Grenzkosten der Firma zu bestimmen. In diesem Sinne stellen wir einen direkten Zusammenhang zwischen Anpassungen auf dem Arbeitsmarkt und der Dynamik von Inflation her. Insbesondere untersuchen wir, welche Wirkung ein geldpolitischer Schock auf Arbeitsmarktvariablen hat und inwieweit Friktionen am Arbeitsmarkt den Transmissionsprozess eines solchen Schocks auf die Inflation beeinflusst.

Das Hauptergebnis unsere Studie lässt sich wie folgt zusammenfassen: Die Reaktion von Inflation auf einen geldpolitischen Schock zeigt einen den Daten entsprechend persistenten Verlauf. Der spezifische Verlauf der Inflation wird über das spezielle Zusammenspiel eines "right-to-manage" Lohnverhandlungsmodell mit rigiden Löhnen in unserem Modell erzielt. Insbesondere etablieren wir einen direkten Kanal der Löhne zu den Grenzkosten der Firmen, was sich wiederum im Preissetzungsverhalten der Firmen nierderschlägt. Daher sind rigide Löhne der entscheidende Erklärungsfaktor für persistente Inflation in unserem Modell.

Darüberhinaus zeigt unsere Kalibrierung, dass die Dynamik von Arbeitslosigkeit und Inflation nicht nur von der Rigidität in den Löhnen, sondern auch von institutionellen Parametern wie z.B. der Verhandlungsmacht der Arbeitnehmer im Modell abhängt. Generell kann man erkennen, dass institutionelle Parameter, die die Volatilität in den Löhnen erhöhen, auch eine grössere Reaktion in der Inflation erzeugen und gleichzeitig die Persistenz verringern.

Generell zeigt die Arbeit die besondere Rolle des Arbeitsmarktes für die Analyse des monetären Transmissionsprozesses. Erstens hängt die Inflationsdynamik von der Flex-

ibilität der Löhne und des Arbeitsmarktes ab. Und zweitens können so länderspezifische Arbeitsmarktregelungen zu unterschiedlichen Transmissionen von geldpolitischen Schocks führen.

Contents

1	Introduction			
2	Price and Wage Rigidities			
3	The Business Cycle Model with Labor Market Matching			
	3.1	Household Problem	7	
	3.2	Job Matching	8	
		3.2.1 Job Destruction	10	
		3.2.2 Job Creation	11	
	3.3	Wage Setting	12	
		3.3.1 Efficient Nash Bargaining	13	
		3.3.2 Right-To-Manage Bargaining	14	
		3.3.3 Introducing Wage Rigidity	15	
	3.4	Final Good Firms and Price Setting	17	
	3.5	Monetary Policy	18	
4	Impact of Real Wage Rigidity			
	4.1	Efficient Bargaining Setup	19	
	4.2	Right-to-Manage Bargaining Setup	20	
5	The Impact of Labor Market Fundamentals			
	5.1	Bargaining Power of Workers	23	
	5.2	Employment Protection	24	
6	Conclusions 2			
A	Appendix 3			

The Role of Real Wage Rigidity and Labor Market Frictions for Unemployment and Inflation Dynamics¹

1 Introduction

Europe's labor markets are rigid in many respects. High firing costs, generous unemployment benefits and strong unions are perceived to contribute to sluggish labor market adjustments. Moreover, the collective wage bargaining process is seen to prevent wages from adjusting instantaneously, introducing a substantial degree of wage rigidity. Therefore, rigidities and frictions in the labor market might be crucial for understanding sluggishness in firms' marginal cost and their price setting behavior.

In this paper, we stress the role of the labor market in determining firms' marginal cost and link labor market adjustments directly to the dynamics of inflation. For that reason, we introduce a Mortensen and Pissarides (1994) labor market model with matching frictions into the New Keynesian business cycle framework, see also Walsh (2003) and Trigari (2003). We particularly extend the Trigari (2003) model with right-to-manage wage bargaining to incorporate a real wage rigidity in form of a Hall (2005) type wage norm. In contrast to the traditional Nash efficient bargaining, the right-to-manage bargaining constitutes a channel through which wages affect the marginal costs of firms. Since marginal costs feed into the determination of prices through the New Keynesian Phillips curve, we establish a direct channel of real wage rigidities to translate into aggregate inflation.

We specifically explore the question whether the underlying labor market regime contributes to explaining inflation persistence. In particular, we analyze how different degrees of real wage rigidity affect the reaction of unemployment and inflation to a shock in monetary policy under different wage bargaining regimes. Moreover, we study the impact of a monetary policy shock on unemployment and inflation conditional on labor market fundamentals such as bargaining power of the workers and the flows in

¹ We thank Heinz Herrmann, Andrew Levin, Michael Krause, Keith Küster and an anonymous referee for helpful comments and suggestions. We are also grateful to the seminar participants at the Goethe-University Frankfurt and the Deutsche Bundesbank and the members of the Eurosystem's Inflation Persistence Network for their suggestions. The research was undertaken while both authors were affiliated with the Deutsche Bundesbank and the Goethe University Frankfurt. The views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the ECB or Bundesbank. Corresponding address: European Central Bank, Kaiserstr. 29, 60311 Frankfurt, Germany, Mail: Kai.Christoffel@ecb.int, Tobias.Linzert@ecb.int

and out of employment.

The lack of inflation persistence implied by the standard New Keynesian model has triggered a line of research focusing on firms' price setting process. Generally, this approach accounts for the observed persistence only if a substantial backward-looking component is included into the Phillips curve relation, see Fuhrer and Moore (1995), Gali and Gertler (1999) and Christiano, Eichenbaum, and Evans (2005). A second line of research focuses on inflation persistence stemming from inertia in the underlying process of marginal costs. Erceg, Henderson, and Levin (2000) introduce Calvo type nominal wage rigidities to generate marginal cost sluggishness. Indeed, Gali, Gertler, and Lopez-Salido (2001) find that wage rigidities are a significant factor driving the persistent movement in marginal cost for both the euro area and the U.S..²

Yet, the mere modelling of wage rigidities might not suffice to fully understand the factors behind sluggish marginal cost. Adjustments in the labor market take place on the hours of work as well as the employment margin. Besides, in light of high levels of unemployment in Europe and generally rigid labor markets a cleared labor market neglecting unemployment might be a misleading assumption. In contrast, our model incorporates matching frictions that generate equilibrium unemployment. Moreover, workers and firms bargain over wages in a collective wage bargaining manner. In addition to adjustments in hours of work per worker, the model provides an additional adjustment channel via the employment margin. Consequently, we employ a model with nominal price rigidities that incorporates both real wage rigidities and matching frictions in the labor market. This model framework will allow us to analyze how labor market dynamics and particularly the adjustment of wages translate into marginal cost and inflation dynamics.

Our main results can be summarized as follows. Our model features a "labor market channel" in the monetary transmission mechanism. We can show that the interaction of the specific wage setting process, i.e. the right-to-manage bargaining with real wage rigidities establish a direct channel on aggregate inflation dynamics. In particular, assuming a high degree of wage rigidity induces marginal cost to adjust slowly which translates into more persistent inflation dynamics. In contrast, using an efficient bargaining framework, in which marginal cost are mainly determined by hours worked not

 $^{^2}$ See Christiano, Eichenbaum, and Evans (2005) and Edge, Laubach, and Williams (2003) who also stress the importance of wage rigidities contributing critically to explain inflation and output dynamics.

wages, the wage rigidity does not lead to higher inflation persistence, see also Krause and Lubik (2003). Moreover, our calibration shows that unemployment and inflation dynamics depend also on the parameters that determine employment protection and bargaining power of workers. And finally, the model is able to describe both the effect of a monetary policy shock on unemployment and on inflation. An adverse monetary policy shock in our model leads to a negative response of unemployment and inflation, displaying the traditional Phillips curve trade-off.

The understanding of labor markets for the transmission process might be of crucial importance for a central bank. First, inflation dynamics and hence inflationary pressures might depend on the flexibility of wages and labor flows. Second, countries that differ with respect to their labor market regime might respond quite differently to a monetary policy shock. In general, understanding labor market adjustments and how they are related to the monetary transmission process may reduce the uncertainty associated with the reaction of inflation to a monetary policy action.

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows. Section 3 introduces the business cycle model featuring nominal price and real wage rigidities. In Section 4 we analyze the role of wage rigidities for inflation dynamics in our simulated model framework. Section 5 assesses the impact of labor market fundamentals on inflation dynamics. Section 6 offers some conclusions and provides an outlook for further research.

2 Price and Wage Rigidities

The New Keynesian business cycle paradigm is based on the notion that prices are sticky and are adjusted only infrequently. In particular, the impact of various kinds of economic shocks on the evolution of output and inflation depends heavily on the degree of stickiness in prices. There are a number of theoretical microeconomic models of price setting that introduce price stickiness into the macroeconomic business cycle model framework.

While it is almost an undisputed belief that price rigidities exist, empirical evidence on price rigidities has been rather scarce. A few pioneering studies starting with Carlton (1986) for the U.S. give evidence for sluggish price adjustments.³ Only recently,

³ See also the evidence provided by Blinder (1994) and Blinder, Canetti, Lebow, and Rudd (1996) and Taylor (1999).

a number of studies document firms price setting behavior in Europe.⁴ Generally, the empirical evidence supports the incorporation of sluggish price adjustments into macroeconomic models of the business cycle. A weakness of most models of price setting behavior is, however, the inability to replicate the degree of inflation persistence observed in the data. Gadzinski and Orlandi (2003), Hondroyiannis and Lazaretou (2004) and Marques (2004) provide evidence that euro area inflation rates are fairly persistent.⁵

The failure of the New Keynesian model to generate the appropriate degree of inflation persistence can be caused by several reasons. First, the model of price setting itself might be an inappropriate description of the actual price setting process. Some studies augment the standard Calvo model with a proportion of backward-looking price setters or the assumption of inflation indexing to introduce an autoregressive term into the aggregate inflation process, see e.g. Gali and Gertler (1999). Second, the lack of persistence might result from far too variable marginal costs. If firms' marginal costs are sluggish, then firms have little incentives to change prices, hence introducing persistence to the inflation process.

It is uncontroversial to assume that labor costs are one of the key determinants of firms' marginal costs. Therefore, any determinant of firms' labor costs, i.e. wages, hiring and firing costs, etc. automatically translate into firms' marginal costs. Firms' marginal costs, in turn, determine firms' price setting and thus the evolution of inflation. Indeed, the variance decomposition of inflation from a simple VAR reveals that real wages seem to be a major component in the forecast variance of inflation, see Figure 4 in the Appendix. This clearly indicates a close relationship between the formation of wages and inflation. We, therefore, ask the question how labor market dynamics and particularly the adjustment of wages translates into marginal cost and inflation dynamics.

It is often argued that labor markets in Europe are rigid in many respects. High

⁴ See Aucremanne and Dhyne (2004), Baudry, Bihan, Sevestre, and Tarrieu (2004), Dias, Dias, and Neves (2004) and Fabiani, Gattulli, and Sabbatini (2004) for details on price setting behavior in the euro area. Specifically, the median duration of European consumer price contracts lies in the range of 8 months to 13 months. There is of course quite some heterogeneity in price changes depending on the particular sector. Prices change much more frequently in the energy and unprocessed food sector.

⁵ Notice that we define persistence throughout the paper as the sum of the coefficients of the lagged dependent variable of an univariate time series equation. As shown e.g. in Gadzinski and Orlandi (2003) the results on inflation persistence do not depend on the specific definition. The results remain valid if other measures like the half life indicator, etc. would be used.



Figure 1: Quarterly Real Wage Growth from 1960 to 2003 in Germany

Notes: Wages correspond to hourly earning in manufacturing. Source: OECD

firing costs, unemployment benefits and strong unions are perceived to contribute to high unemployment and slow labor adjustments. Most importantly, the collective wage bargaining process is seen as a mechanism which prevents wages from adjusting instantaneously, hence introducing a substantial degree of wage rigidity.⁶ In fact, recent studies on wage rigidity in Europe reveal that there is nominal as well real wage rigidity in micro wage data, see e.g. Smith (2000), Bauer, Bonin, and Sunde (2003), Knoppik and Beissinger (2003) and Dessy (2004). Moreover, as is apparent from individual wage growth distributions, the bulk of real wage changes lie in the interval from -5 to +5 percent. The macroeconometric evidence seems to be consistent with the numbers found in micro studies. For German data, aggregate quarterly real wage changes exceed 3% per quarter only in a few cases, see Figure 1.

If one constitutes a channel from wage to inflation dynamics (through firms' marginal costs), then clearly slow adjustment in wages will translate into more persistent movements in inflation. The empirical relationship between real wage persistence and inflation persistence is documented in Figure 2. The cross country evidence shows that wage and inflation persistence are positively related, i.e. the higher the real wage

⁶ We do not attempt to explain wage rigidity but the explanations put forward in the literature are manyfold. Wages might be rigid due efficient wage contracts, loss aversion, union power or fairness considerations, see Bewley (1999) for a survey.



Figure 2: Inflation vs. Real Wage Persistence: Cross Country Evidence

Notes: OECD country data. Real wage and inflation persistence is calculated according to: $w_t = c + \varsigma w_{t-1} + \sum_{i=1}^{4} \psi_i \Delta w_{t-i} + \varepsilon_t$. where ς corresponds to the sum of the AR coefficients of the lagged dependent variable.

persistence in a country, the more persistent inflation tends to be. Moreover, labor market fundamentals as summarized by the average unemployment rate display a positive relation with inflation persistence, see Figure 3.⁷ Consequently there is reason to believe that labor market dynamics affect inflation dynamics and hence the transmission process of monetary policy.

3 The Business Cycle Model with Labor Market Matching

Following Trigari (2003), we introduce a New Keynesian style business cycle model incorporating labor market frictions. These labor market frictions are twofold. First, we use the standard Mortensen-Pissarides model to account for equilibrium unemployment. This imposes a real rigidity on the adjustment of the factors of production to aggregate shocks. Second, we follow Hall (2005) and Krause and Lubik (2003) by including real wage rigidity in form of a wage norm. In that sense we extend the model by Trigari (2003) to allow for rigidities in wage contracts.

⁷ It seems that if unemployment is high, the labor market cannot exert enough pressure on wages and hence prices making inflation more persistent. This is in line with Driscoll and Holden (2004) who show based on U.S. data that inflation is more persistent when unemployment is high. See Linzert (2005) for similar evidence for euro area countries.



Figure 3: Inflation Persistence vs. Natural Unemployment: Cross Country Evidence Inflation Persistence and Unemployment

Notes: OECD country data. Wage and inflation persistence is calculated according to: $w_t = c + \varsigma w_{t-1} + \sum_{i=1}^{4} \psi_i \Delta w_{t-i} + \varepsilon_t$. where ς corresponds to the sum of the AR coefficients of the lagged dependent variable.

The model structure is characterized by a separation between firms in the wholesale and retail market. The intermediate goods are produced by competitive firms in the wholesale sector employing labor as the only input to production. The retail sector firms buy wholesale goods at marginal cost, transform them into differentiated goods and sell them with a mark-up over marginal cost in a monopolistic competitive environment, see Walsh (2003).⁸

3.1 Household Problem

There is a continuum of households on the interval [0, 1]. The representative household chooses $\{c_t, h_t\}_{t=1}^{\infty}$ to maximize its utility given by:

$$\max \mathbf{E}_t \sum_{t=0}^{\infty} \beta^t \left[\frac{c_t^{1-\sigma}}{1-\sigma} - \kappa_h \frac{h_t^{1+\phi}}{1+\phi} \right] \tag{1}$$

where the first term is the utility from consuming c_t of the final good while the second part represents the disutility from work by supplying h_t units of hours. The degree of risk aversion is given by σ and ϕ denotes the inverse of the intertemporal elasticity

⁸ The two market structure of wholesale and retail sector simplifies the structure of the model. Notice that Krause and Lubik (2003) embed the two sector structure into a single integrated firm employing labor to produce intermediate and final good.

of substitution of labor. κ_h accounts for the relative importance of disutility of work and utility from consumption in total utility.

Households maximize consumption subject to the following budget constraint:

$$c_t + \frac{B_t}{p_t r_t^n} = d_t + \frac{B_{t-1}}{p_t}$$

$$\tag{2}$$

where p_t is the aggregate price level, B_t is per capita holdings of one period risk free bond, r_t^n is the gross nominal interest rate on this bond and d_t denotes the per capita income of the household in period t.

Household members can be employed or unemployed. When employed they receive the wage payments $w_t h_t$, when unemployed they engage in home production of a nontradable goods or receive unemployment benefits which are evaluated in consumption units, b_t . In the absence of perfect income insurance an individual's savings decision would depend on its employment history and prospects. To avoid any distributional issues that may arise from this instance, we follow Merz (1995) and Andolfatto (1996) in assuming that households pool their income and consumption. Conditional on this assumption households optimality conditions can be given by the usual intra- and intertemporal relation.

3.2 Job Matching

In the following section we lay out the search and matching model of Mortensen-Pissarides that is incorporated into a New Keynesian style business cycle model to explicitly model labor market frictions in the form of equilibrium unemployment, see Mortensen and Pissarides (1994), Mortensen and Pissarides (1999), Pissarides (2000).

Trade in the labor market is an uncoordinated, time consuming, and costly activity that introduces frictions which lead to imperfect outcomes in the labor market. Jobs are constantly created and destroyed and unemployed workers look for new jobs generating unemployment in equilibrium. The process through which workers and firms find each other is represented by a matching function accounting for the imperfections and transaction cost in the labor market.⁹ This function summarizes the entire search

⁹ Frictions usually derive from a complex set of factors such as imperfect information, heterogeneity, absence of perfect insurance, etc. The matching function incorporates the equilibrium outcome of such frictions without the explicit reference to the above sources of frictions.

process in a single relation where the number of matches is a function of the number of unemployed persons, u_t , and the number of vacant jobs, v_t , in the labor market:

$$m_t = m(u_t, v_t) = \varrho_m u_t^{\varrho} v_t^{1-\varrho} \tag{3}$$

with ρ being the elasticity of the matching with respect to the stock of unemployed persons. The parameter ρ_m captures all factors that influence the efficiency of matching. The function is assumed to have constant returns to scale.

The probability that a vacant job is matched with a worker is:

$$q_t = \frac{m_t}{v_t} = \varrho_m \theta_t^{-\varrho} \tag{4}$$

where $\theta_t = \frac{v_t}{u_t}$ defines an indicator for the tightness in the labor market. An increase in the number of vacancies relative to unemployment, θ_t , reduces the probability that a vacancy will be filled. This in turn means that additional vacancies per unemployed worker imply an increase of the probability that the unemployed person finds a job. Accordingly, the corresponding probability for an unemployed worker to find a job is given by:

$$s_t = m_t / u_t = \varrho_m \theta_t^{1-\varrho} \tag{5}$$

where the exit rate from unemployment is an increasing function of the labor market tightness. For a given number of unemployed persons in the market, the probability of finding a job increases when the number of vacancies rise.

The probabilities of filling a job and finding a job show that the matching model introduces two kinds of externalities responsible for determining equilibrium unemployment in the model: the congestion and the labor market tightness externality. Each firm posting a vacancy creates a negative congestion externality for other firms since an additional vacancy decreases the chance for other firms to fill their vacancies. Conversely, the labor market tightness describes the effect that each additional job searcher creates a negative search externality for other searchers. Thus, there will be a stochastic rationing in the labor market which cannot be solved by the usual price mechanism. The variable, θ_t , defined to capture both externalities, plays a crucial role in determining the degree of rationing and hence the equilibrium unemployment in the labor market. Once a worker and a firm are matched, they produce output according to the production function:

$$f(h_t) = z_t h_t^{\alpha} \tag{6}$$

where labor, i.e. the number of hours, h_t , is the only input to production and z_t represents technological progress.

It is assumed that firms produce the output necessary to provide the aggregate household demand.

$$c_t = (1 - \rho)n_t z_t h_t^{\alpha} \tag{7}$$

3.2.1 Job Destruction

Unemployment rises after an adverse shock. According to Hall (2004) employed workers do not loose jobs more frequently in a recession than in other times, i.e. job destruction remains rather constant over time. On the other hand, employers are far more reluctant to create jobs in a recession. Hence, unemployment rises because the exit rate of unemployment is lower, and not because the entrance rate is higher.

Therefore, without loss of plausibility, we can assume that job destruction occurs exogenously at the rate ρ . The rate ρ indicates the proportion of existing matches that disappear at the beginning of each period, i.e. become unproductive for unspecified reasons resulting in firms terminating the job.

The number of employed workers at the beginning of each period (n_t) evolves as follows:

$$n_t = (1 - \rho)n_{t-1} + m_{t-1} \tag{8}$$

where the first part of the right hand side represents the matches that survived the job destruction process in the previous period and the second part being the matches formed in the previous period which become productive in the current period. It is important to note the n_t gives the number of employed workers at the beginning of period t. The number of productive workers in period t is therefore given by $(1-\rho)n_t$.

The number of searching workers is given accordingly as (where total labor force is

normalized to one):¹⁰

$$u_t = 1 - (1 - \rho)n_t \tag{9}$$

3.2.2 Job Creation

Firms create a job vacancy when the expected gains from an employment relation exceed the cost of vacancy posting. Until the value of a new job is equal to the cost of creating a job new firms will enter the market to create vacancies. For simplicity it is assumed that each firm has one job so vacancy posting and hence the number of jobs created is a matter of how many firms are in the market.

The value of a job for a firm is given by the contemporaneous payoff and the discounted future value of the job at the end of the period.

$$J_t = x_t f(h_t) - w_t h_t + E_t \beta_{t+1} (1-\rho) J_{t+1}$$
(10)

where x_t is the relative price of the intermediate good and w_t is the wage the firm has to pay for an hour of work. Since all the intermediate good producers act in a competitive environment the relative price is given by marginal cost in relation to the price of the consumption good. The discount factor is constructed in terms of relative marginal utility $(\lambda_t = \frac{\partial U_t}{\partial c_t})$ from consumption, such that $\beta_{t+s} = \frac{\beta^s \lambda_{t+s}}{\lambda_t}$.

The value of an open vacancy to a firm is given by:

$$V_t = -\frac{\kappa}{\lambda_t} + E_t \,\beta_{t+1} \left[q_t (1-\rho) J_{t+1} + (1-q_t) V_{t+1} \right]$$
(11)

with κ being the utility cost of vacancy posting.¹¹ When a job is vacant, the profit is zero. Hence the value of a vacancy is determined by the current cost of holding a vacancy open and the expected utility arising from future matches. As long as the value of a vacancy is greater than zero vacancies are created until $V_t = 0$.

Taking the difference between the two equations J_t and V_t yields the surplus, $J_t - V_t$, to the firm of filling a vacancy. It can be seen from the equations for J_t and V_t that the value of a firm from a filled vacancy increases in the search cost, the separation rate, the discount rate and the expected length of search.

¹⁰ Note that u_t gives the number of searching workers, while the number of unemployed workers at the beginning of each period is given by $1 - n_t$.

¹¹ Notice that the vacancy costs cannot just be seen as the pure costs of hiring but also costs for machines and other capital that will be idle while the vacancy is not filled.

Turning to the problem of the worker, we assume that a worker can either be employed or unemployed. The value of being employed is given by:¹²

$$W_t = w_t h_t - \frac{g(h_t)}{\lambda_t} + E_t \beta_{t+1} \left[(1-\rho) W_{t+1} + \rho U_{t+1} \right]$$
(12)

The first term in the equation is the worker's wage income. The second term represents the disutility of work and the last term reflects the future utility of an employment relation. With a probability ρ the job is destroyed and the worker receives the utility of being unemployed while the value of being employed is realized if the job remains productive.

In the same way we can express the value of being unemployed:

$$U_t = b + E_t \beta_{t+1} \left[s_t (1-\rho) W_{t+1} + (1-s_t+s_t\rho) U_{t+1} \right]$$
(13)

The value of being unemployed is determined by the value of home production or unemployment benefits, b, and the probability of finding a job in period t and not loosing the job at beginning of period t + 1 given by $s_t(1 - \rho)$. With probability $1 - s_t(1 - \rho)$ unemployed workers remain in the unemployment pool, either by being not matched at all or being matched and separated immediately at the beginning of the next period.

Taking the difference between the two equations W_t and U_t yields the surplus, $W_t - U_t$, to the worker of staying employed. The surplus depends crucially on the level of unemployment benefits and the tightness in the labor market.

3.3 Wage Setting

In a frictionless Walrasian labor market, hours are chosen to equate the marginal rate of substitution between leisure and consumption with the marginal product of labor. The resulting wage rate equals the marginal product of labor. In a labor market with matching frictions and equilibrium unemployment, however, the worker and the firm bargain over wages. In general, wages will be bargained to split the positive rent or match surplus arising from a successful match between the worker and the firm.¹³ There are several versions of noncooperative bargaining games that are able to solve

¹² Where $g(h_t) = \kappa_h \frac{h_t^{1+\phi}}{1+\phi}$ denotes the disutility from supplying labor.

¹³ The rent is generated since it is costly to both workers and employers not to agree over employment. The worker remains unemployed and has to look for another job and similarly the firm faces search costs to find another worker.

the surplus sharing problem. In the following section we will consider the efficient Nash bargaining to contrast it with the right-to-manage bargaining.

3.3.1 Efficient Nash Bargaining

A plausible way to split the rent between workers and employers is through efficient Nash bargaining. MacDonald and Solow (1981) proposed a bargaining game in which bargaining takes place over employment and wages at the same time. In this case, wages and the number of hours worked are chosen to maximize the joint surplus:

$$\max_{w,h} \left[W_t - U_t \right]^{\eta} \left[J_t - V_t \right]^{1-\eta} \tag{14}$$

subject to equations (10) to (13).

This implies the following optimality condition:

$$\eta J_t = (1 - \eta)(W_t - U_t) \tag{15}$$

The wage in this model can be interpreted as a weighted average of the two "threat" points of employers and employees, i.e. the marginal product and the reservation wage, respectively. The stronger the bargaining power of the worker, the closer the wage is to the marginal product and vice versa. Therefore, the wage has only a distributive role of the rent from the foregone expected search costs.

The wage relation following from (15) can be written as:

$$w_t = \eta \left(\frac{x_t m p l_t}{\alpha} + \frac{\kappa \theta_t}{\lambda_t h_t} \right) + (1 - \eta) \left(\frac{m r s_t}{1 + \phi_t} + \frac{b}{h_t} \right)$$
(16)

Notice that in this formulation the wage does not only depend on the marginal rate of substitution (mrs) as in the frictionless Walrasian market but also on the state of the labor market, i.e. the value of household production or level of unemployment benefits (b), the labor market tightness (θ) , etc. In the theoretical model an increased tightness of the labor market or higher unemployment benefits implies higher negotiated wages.

In the bargaining process wages and hours are determined simultaneously. This implies that hours are chosen in an efficient way according to the following optimality condition:

$$mpl_t x_t = mrs_t \tag{17}$$

Under efficient bargaining the outcome lies on the contract curve, i.e. the locus of tangency points of the isoprofit curve of the firm and worker's indifference curves. Any change in hours will be accompanied by a change in the wage as well so that any renegotiation of hours and wages will yield an agreement on the contract curve. Thus, the correct measure of firms marginal cost is the worker's marginal rate of substitution of consumption and leisure rather than the wage.

3.3.2 Right-To-Manage Bargaining

In contrast to efficient Nash bargaining the right-to-manage model proposes that unions and firms only bargain over wages and that firms subsequently choose the level of employment, see Nickell and Andrews (1983) and Trigari (2003). The reasoning to negotiate wages and the employment level separately is that firms want to adapt their labor demand if product demand changes. In practise employers are always able to adjust employment by changing work hours or the workforce. In this view, the efficient bargaining solution by which every adjustment in working hours is accompanied by a renegotiation of wages seems too restrictive. Besides, a large proportion of wages in Europe are covered by collective bargaining agreements at the sectoral level, leaving the individual firm with the optimal decision on the demand for hours only. Therefore, the right-to-manage model seems to characterize the institutional setup in Europe better than the efficient bargaining model.

The product of the weighted economic rents of the negotiating parties, i.e. workers and employers is maximized with respect to w_t :

$$\eta \delta_t^w J_t = (1 - \eta) \delta_t^f (W_t - U_t) \tag{18}$$

where $\delta_t^w = \frac{\partial W_t}{\partial w_t}$ is the marginal contribution of wages to the value of a job to the worker and $\delta_t^f = \frac{\partial J_t}{\partial w_t}$ is the marginal contribution of the wage to the value of a job to the firm. Using the relations in equations (10)-(13) yield the following wage equation:

$$w_t h_t = \chi_t(x_t z h_t + f_t^F) + (1 - \chi_t) \left(\frac{\kappa_h \frac{h_t^{1+\phi}}{1+\phi}}{\lambda_t} + b - f^W \right)$$
(19)

where f_t^F and f_t^W are the future net present values from employment for the firm and the worker, respectively and

$$\chi_t = \frac{\eta \delta_t^n}{\eta \delta_t^w + (1 - \eta) \delta_t^f}$$

We can rewrite the wage as:

$$w_t = \chi_t \left(\frac{x_t m p l_t}{\alpha} + \frac{\kappa \theta_t}{\lambda_t h_t} \right) + (1 - \chi_t) \left(\frac{m r s}{1 + \phi_t} + \frac{b}{h_t} \right)$$

$$+ \chi_t (1 - s_t) \frac{\kappa}{\lambda_t q_t} \left(1 - \frac{1 - \chi_t}{\chi_t} \frac{\chi_{t+1}}{1 - \chi_{t+1}} \right)$$
(20)

As in the efficient bargaining case, the wage differs from the competitive wage. The wage depends on the respective bargaining power of the negotiating parties, the reservation wage and the general tightness of the labor market. In that sense, the institutional framework of the labor market is crucial for the wage setting process.

Once the wage is determined, firms will choose hours to satisfy the relation:

$$x_t m p l_t = w_t \tag{21}$$

Wages are set through the bargaining process and are taken as given by the firms when choosing their level of employment. For every additional hour of work the firm must pay the previously bargained wage. Therefore, in contrast to the efficient bargaining case, the wage is now a direct determinant of the firm's marginal cost. The mechanism through which wages feed into marginal costs is crucial to our model since it constitutes a direct channel of wages on inflation dynamics via the New Keynesian Phillips curve.

3.3.3 Introducing Wage Rigidity

Aggregate wages are characterized by a high degree of persistence. Especially in Europe, sudden and significant shifts in the aggregate wage level are not observed. Due to collective wage bargaining agreements, wage changes only take place on a quite infrequent basis. Therefore, a wage that can be freely adjusted each period assumes a degree of wage flexibility that is hardly consistent with actual practises.

Erceg, Henderson, and Levin (2000) and Christiano, Eichenbaum, and Evans (2005) introduce wage rigidity into the New Keynesian business cycle model by a Calvo type wage setting scheme. As in final good price setting, firms are randomly chosen to change their wages while the remaining firms keep wages unchanged. In Europe, however, most wages are bargained on a sector wide level, are not allowed to fluctuate freely and once settled remain unchanged for a given period. More importantly, the Calvo wage rigidity modelling strategy neglects the crucial interdependence of the

wage bargaining process with other labor market issues, like the flows in and out of employment or the level of unemployment. For that reason we opt for introducing a wage rigidity into the labor market setting presented in the previous sections.¹⁴

Following Hall (2005), we introduce wage rigidity into the model in the form of a backward looking social norm.¹⁵ The possible outcome of the wage bargain lies within a bargaining set. The bargaining set is bounded by an upper limit denoting the wage rate $(w_t^{(u)})$ for which the firms's surplus from the employment relation is zero. The wage level for which the worker is indifferent between working and being unemployed determines the lower wage bound $(w_t^{(l)})$.¹⁶ All wage levels in this bargaining set are possible solutions of the wage bargain and can be written as a convex combination of upper and lower bound:

$$w_t^{\star} = \Gamma_t w_t^{(u)} + (1 - \Gamma_t) w_t^{(l)}$$
(22)

where Γ_t is a function of the specific bargaining regime governed by η .

According to Hall (2005) a wage norm or social consensus can be perceived as a rule to select an equilibrium within the bargaining set. Without going into the details of the sources of this wage norm, we assume that the actual wage level is given by a weighted average of past wage level and the equilibrium wage level defined in Equation (22):¹⁷

$$w_t = (1 - \delta)w_t^* + \delta\widehat{w} \tag{23}$$

where $\hat{w} = w_{t-1}$ and δ denoting the respective weight. The wage norm used in this framework can be seen as encompassing various sources of wage rigidities.¹⁸ While

¹⁴ Throughout this paper we are using the term wage rigidity to refer to the general property that real wages are not adjusting immediately to the desired level. In contrast to this usage Trigari (2003) is using the term wage rigidity for the right-to-manage bargaining approach where wages are allocative but free to adjust immediately (compare Section 3.3.2).

¹⁵ The wage norm has originally been introduced into the matching model to improve the model's performance in replicating labor market fluctuations. In particular, the model cannot explain well the magnitude of the cyclical behavior of unemployment and vacancies, see e.g. Hall (2005) and Shimer (2005). A wage norm limits the adjustment capabilities of wages and hence increases the adjustments on the labor quantity side. This channel substantially increases the business cycle fluctuations of unemployment and vacancies.

¹⁶ The upper and the lower limit of the wage bargaining set are derived from the value functions defined in equations (10) and (11) respectively (12) and (13).

¹⁷ The wage norm can be rationalized, for example, in terms of an aggregation of individual wage decisions, each subject to idiosyncratic productivity shocks disturbing the wage outcome. Only those wages that fall out of the boundaries of the wage bargaining set are reset to the nearest boundary. In general, the average wage in a period becomes the norm for next period, see Hall (2003) for details.

¹⁸ See for example Boeri and Burda (2003) or Danthine and Kurmann (2004) for possible microfoundations.

being a short cut to a micro founded wage rigidity, the aggregate wage norm used in this paper constitutes a plausible starting point for analyzing the impact of wage rigidities on the monetary transmission process, see also Krause and Lubik (2003), Uhlig (2004) and Blanchard and Gali (2005), which take a similar approach.

In contrast to the efficient bargaining model, the right-to-manage model of the previous section establishes a link between the wage setting and firms' marginal cost. In fact, in our model the wage rigidity will directly influence the marginal cost process.¹⁹ In a New Keynesian model with a Walrasian labor market an adverse shock to production usually leads to large declines in real wages. Marginal costs of firms fall accordingly and the incentive for price adjustments is high. This is, however, in contrast to the empirical evidence that commonly demonstrates fluctuations of prices and wages to be rather small. Hence, the departure from the Walrasian labor market with wage rigidities may improve the model generated dynamics of output and inflation. More specifically, the introduction of the wage norm depresses marginal cost fluctuations and helps to generate more persistent inflation dynamics via the New Keynesian Phillips curve.

3.4 Final Good Firms and Price Setting

The final good firms aggregate the intermediate goods into the final consumption $good.^{20}$ The output index is assembled using the standard aggregation technology.

$$y_t = \left[\int_0^1 y_{it}^{\frac{\epsilon-1}{\epsilon}}\right]^{\frac{\epsilon}{\epsilon-1}}$$
(24)

with y_t , y_{it} and ϵ being aggregate output, the individual firm's output and the firm's own price elasticity, respectively. The final good is sold at its unit price defined as

$$p_t = \left[\int_0^1 p_{it}^{1-\epsilon}\right]^{\frac{1}{1-\epsilon}} \tag{25}$$

The resulting demand for each aggregator depends on the relative price and aggregate demand.

$$y_{it} = \left(\frac{p_{it}}{p_t}\right)^{-\epsilon} y_t \tag{26}$$

¹⁹ Notice that the wage rigidity in this model does not affect the formation of a match itself. However, a wage rigidity influences the vacancy posting of employers as slow moving wages affect the profit condition and hence the amount of open vacancies posted by firms.

²⁰ This section follows the standard setting described in Rotemberg and Woodford (1998).

Following the specification introduced by Calvo (1989) we can write the Dixit-Stiglitz price index as

$$p_t = \left[(1 - \varphi) p_t^{\star 1 - \epsilon} + \varphi p_{t-1}^{1 - \epsilon} \right]^{\frac{1}{1 - \epsilon}}$$

$$(27)$$

where $(1 - \varphi)$ denotes the per period probability that a firm is able to reset its price to the optimal price p_t^{\star} . The remaining fraction φ of firms keep their prices at the levels prevailed in the previous period. The optimal price p_t^{\star} is chosen to maximize profits over the expected time span until the firm can re-optimize the price.

$$E_t \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \varphi^s \beta_{t+s} \left[\frac{p_{it}^*}{p_{t+s}} - x_{t+s} \right] y_{i,t+s}$$
(28)

The solution to this problem is given by

$$p_{it} = \frac{\epsilon}{\epsilon - 1} \operatorname{E}_t \sum_{s=0}^{\infty} \omega_{t,t+s} p_{t+s} x_{t+s}$$
(29)

The weights $\omega_{t,t+s}$ are given by

$$\omega_{t,t+s} = \frac{\varphi^s \beta_{t+s} R_{it,t+s}}{\operatorname{E}_t \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \varphi^k \beta_{t+k} R_{it,t+k}}$$
(30)

with R_{it} denoting the real interest rate.

3.5 Monetary Policy

The central bank's monetary policy is modelled via a Taylor-type interest rate rule according to which the nominal interest rate evolves as:

$$r_t^n = (r_{t-1}^n)^{\rho^m} E_t (p_{t+1}/p_t)^{\gamma_\pi (1-\rho^m)} (y_t)^{\gamma_y (1-\rho^m)} e^{\epsilon_t^m}$$
(31)

4 Impact of Real Wage Rigidity

To solve the model described in the previous section the equations are linearized around the model's steady state. The resulting linearized system is solved using AIM.²¹ In order to analyze the dynamics of our model we calibrate the model choosing parameter values that are generally used in the literature. The benchmark parameter choices are displayed in Table 2.

 $^{^{21}}$ See Anderson and Moore (1985) for details on the solution method.

In this section we analyze the model's dynamics to a unit shock in monetary policy, i.e. an increase in the nominal interest rate. We are particularly interested in how monetary policy is propagated in the presence of a non-Walrasian labor market with equilibrium unemployment and real wage rigidity. Towards that aim, we will compare the outcome of the model under the two bargaining schemes introduced in the previous sections, i.e. the efficient Nash bargaining and the right-to-manage bargaining. This allows the analysis of the transmission process of monetary policy when labor markets differ with respect to the bargaining regime as well as to the degree of wage rigidity. The results regarding the impact of wage rigidity on the variables of interest crucially depend on the prevailing bargaining regime.

4.1 Efficient Bargaining Setup

As a first step, we analyze the impact of wage rigidity when combined with an efficient Nash bargaining setup. The corresponding impulse-response functions are displayed in Figure 5. An adverse interest rate shock initially leads to a fall in private demand. In order to adjust to private demand, intermediate good producers reduce production, implying a fall in employment and working hours. A dampened demand decreases expected profits and hence induces firms to post less vacancies. Vacancies fall and unemployment increases accordingly. Since working hours must fall to meet the reduced demand, firms pay lower wages to reduce worker's labor supply.

The drop in consumption implies an increase in the current period's marginal utility of consumption. The marginal rate of substitution between leisure and consumption falls accordingly. In Section 3.3.1 it was highlighted that the marginal rate of substitution is an important determinant of firms' marginal costs. As can be seen in Figure 5, a drop in the marginal rate of substitution is translated into a fall of marginal costs. Additionally, inflation falls also since marginal costs subsequently affect inflation via the New Keynesian Phillips curve.

The introduction of real wage rigidity in the efficient bargaining model increases the adjustment via the employment margin. Under rigid wages, changes in demand conditions have a stronger impact on the profits of the firm. If wages cannot decrease sufficiently, firms are paying excessive wage compensation. This implies a negative impact on firms' profits, a reduced number of posted vacancies and an additional reduction in employment. The path of hours, however, is not significantly affected, which implies that inflation dynamics are not strongly influenced by the introduction of wage rigidity.²²

4.2 Right-to-Manage Bargaining Setup

As a second step, we analyze how the model dynamics change when workers and firms bargain according to a right-to-manage (RTM) bargaining regime. We are particularly interested in the responses of the variables when a wage rigidity is introduced into the RTM model. For that reason we compare the response functions of a RTM model without wage rigidity with a calibration using a high degree of wage stickiness. The corresponding impulse-response functions are shown in Figure 6.

The initial reactions to a monetary policy shock without a wage norm are quite similar to the responses in the efficient bargaining model. A noteworthy difference is that wages react much stronger in the RTM model and labor flows are much less pronounced than in the efficient bargaining version. The increased volatility of wages can be explained by a steeper labor demand function in the right-to-manage setup.

The introduction of wage rigidity in the RTM model has an important implication for the dynamics of inflation in the model, see Figure 6. Indeed, the introduction of wage rigidities reduce the volatility and increase the persistence of wages. Accordingly, as it is apparent from the figure, marginal costs and inflation also show a more persistent response to a monetary policy shock. Therefore, we can show that for a reasonable degree of wage rigidity the model improves significantly along the inflation persistence margin.

In our model, rigid wages feed into marginal costs and hence have a direct impact on inflation dynamics through the New Keynesian Phillips curve. The mechanism of wage rigidities in the right-to-manage framework can be best seen in the linearized

 $^{^{22}}$ This result is consistent with the findings of Krause and Lubik (2003).

version of the wage and inflation equation:²³

$$w_{t} = (1 - \delta)(\gamma_{1}mrs_{t} + \gamma_{2}(v_{t} - u_{t} - h_{t} - \lambda_{t})) -(1 - \delta)(\gamma_{3}h_{t} - \zeta_{1}\chi_{t} + \zeta_{2} \operatorname{E}(\chi_{t+1})) + \delta w_{t-1}$$
(32)

$$\pi_t = \frac{(1 - \beta\varphi)(1 - \varphi)}{\varphi} \left(w_t - (\alpha - 1)h_t \right) + \beta \operatorname{E}(\pi_{t+1})$$
(33)

It is obvious from Equation (32) that the inclusion of wage rigidities smooth the path of wages. Wages in turn determine firms' marginal costs and thus directly feed into the path of inflation, see Equation (33). Therefore, the wage rigidity smoothes marginal costs and increases inflation persistence. Moreover, since in our model not only hours but also employment adjusts to economic shocks, the fluctuations of hours can be smaller than in a model without the employment margin. This implies that marginal costs may be further smoothed by a less variable hours component. Therefore, the modelling of flows in and out of employment in our model can have further implications for the dynamics of marginal costs and hence inflation.

Table 1 displays the inflation and wage persistence from model simulations when labor markets differ with respect to the bargaining regime as well as the degree of wage rigidity. The four columns show the persistence in wages and inflation from the model simulated series. Persistence is measured as the sum of the AR coefficients of the respective lagged dependent variable from a univariate autoregressive process, see Andrews and Chen (1994).²⁴

The upper panel in Table 1 shows the model series persistence within a RTM bargaining framework and the lower panel the efficient bargaining counterparts. It is apparent from the table that the greater the exogenously imposed wage rigidity, the higher is inflation persistence in the RTM model. For wage norms consistent with aggregate

²³ Where $\chi_t = \frac{\eta \hat{\delta}_w(1-\hat{\chi})}{\eta \hat{\chi} \hat{\delta}^w + (1-\eta) \hat{\chi} \hat{h}} \delta_t^w - \frac{(1-\eta) \hat{\chi} \hat{h}}{(\eta \hat{\chi} \hat{\delta}^w + (1-\eta) \hat{\chi} \hat{h})} \delta_t^f$, variables with a hat denote the steady state values and the parameters are given by the following relations: $\gamma_1 = \frac{\frac{1-\eta}{(1+\phi)} + \frac{\eta}{\alpha}}{1-\frac{\eta}{\alpha}}, \ \gamma_2 = \frac{\frac{(\eta\kappa)}{\hat{w}\hat{q}\hat{\lambda}\hat{h}}}{\frac{1-\eta}{1-\frac{\eta}{\alpha}}}, \ \gamma_3 = \frac{\frac{(\eta\kappa)}{\hat{w}\hat{q}\hat{\lambda}\hat{h}} + \frac{(1-\eta)b}{1-\frac{\eta}{\alpha}}}{1-\frac{\eta}{\alpha}}, \ \zeta_1 = \frac{\frac{\eta(1-\alpha)}{(1-\eta)\alpha} + \frac{\kappa}{\hat{q}\hat{w}\hat{\lambda}\hat{h}}}{1-\frac{\eta}{\alpha}} \text{ and } \ \zeta_2 = \frac{\eta}{1-\eta}(1-\hat{s})\frac{\frac{\kappa}{\hat{q}\hat{w}\hat{\lambda}\hat{h}}}{1-\frac{\eta}{\alpha}}.$ ²⁴ The most common approach to determine a variable's persistence is to estimate a univariate AR

$$w_t = c + \varsigma w_{t-1} + \sum_{i=1}^4 \psi_i \Delta w_{t-i} + \varepsilon_t$$

where ς corresponds to the sum of the AR coefficients of the lagged dependent variables. See e.g. Gadzinski and Orlandi (2003) for further evidence and alternative measures on inflation persistence in the euro area.

equation of the following form:

				-			
Bargaining Regime	Persistence ς in	$\begin{array}{l} \text{Model} \\ \delta = 0 \end{array}$	Model $\delta = 0.90$	$\begin{array}{l} \text{Model} \\ \delta = 0.95 \end{array}$	Model $\delta = 0.97$	German data	U.S. data
Right to Manage	Wages Inflation	$0.36 \\ 0.38$	0.81 0.71	0.88 0.77	0.92 0.78	$0.86 \\ 0.87$	$0.81 \\ 0.78$
Efficient Bargaining	Wages Inflation	$0.52 \\ 0.17$	0.92 0.18	$0.95 \\ 0.19$	0.97 0.16	$0.86 \\ 0.87$	0.81 0.78

Table 1: Estimated Persistence ς in Wages and Inflation

Notes: Data Source: OECD MEI. δ is the coefficient of lagged wages in right-to-manage wage equation. Wage and inflation persistence is calculated according to:

$$w_t = c + \varsigma w_{t-1} + \sum_{i=1}^4 \psi_i \Delta w_{t-i} + \varepsilon_t$$

wage data (e.g. an AR coefficient of 0.9) the RTM model generates substantial inflation persistence compared to model variants with no wage norm. In contrast, inflation persistence under the efficient bargaining framework is not affected significantly when the degree of wage rigidity increases. In the efficient bargaining model there is no direct channel from wages to firms' marginal costs. Obviously, this prevents wages from affecting inflation in a significant way.

To sum up, the introduction of RTM bargaining with real wage rigidities has important implications for the transmission of monetary policy in the traditional New Keynesian model. A non-clearing labor market together with wage rigidities help to explain a more persistent response of inflation to a shock in interest rates.

5 The Impact of Labor Market Fundamentals

European labor markets are governed by labor market institutions such as collective wage bargaining, employment protection legislation and unemployment insurance. These institutions may be seen to influence the bargaining power of workers which in turn affect the wage determination process. In this section we look at the responses of unemployment and inflation to a monetary policy shock under different degrees of labor market rigidity in the RTM model with wage rigidity.²⁵ The wage equation in

²⁵ The notion of the interaction between shocks and institutions was forwarded by e.g. Blanchard and Wolfers (2000) to statistically explain the evolution of European unemployment.

the right-to-manage model in Section 3.3.2 contains several variables characterizing the state of the labor market such as the bargaining power of workers, the job destruction rate or the level of the reservation wage. Since we established a link between the wage outcome and inflation dynamics, the question arises how the determinants of the wage itself affect inflation dynamics.²⁶

5.1 Bargaining Power of Workers

Collective wage bargaining is an important institutional feature that determines wages of workers. For example, despite a relatively low union density, union coverage is fairly high in most of Continental European countries, see e.g. Nickell, Nunziata, Ochel, and Quintini (2003). Generally, higher bargaining power of workers in the form of higher union membership and coverage is associated with an upward pressure on wages and hence higher unemployment.²⁷

We start with analyzing inflation and unemployment dynamics with different degrees of workers' bargaining power represented by the parameter, η , see Figure 7.²⁸ If bargaining power is high the negotiated wage increases since workers can command higher wages for a given disutility of work. Thus, expected profits of firms decline and cause the number of vacant jobs to fall. This in turn results in higher unemployment. In line with the empirical evidence provided by e.g. Blanchard and Wolfers (2000), the interaction of a monetary policy shock and high bargaining power leads to an increase in unemployment in our model.

Higher bargaining power of workers induces inflation to respond more to a contractionary monetary policy shock, see Figure 7. When wages increase with higher bargaining power, marginal costs rise as well and feed into increased movements of inflation. A change in bargaining power affects both the magnitude of the response in unemployment and inflation and the persistence of the respective variables. Notice, however, that an increase in bargaining power does not only feeds into larger upward

²⁶ Note that there have been a set of theoretical studies on the impact of labor market institutions such as hiring subsidies and unemployment benefits on labor market dynamics, see e.g. Yashiv (2004).

²⁷ Yet, in practise this effect can be offset if wage setting in the economy is coordinated, see e.g. Nickell and Layard (1999).

²⁸ The baseline parameter choice for bargaining power is $\eta = 0.4$ which is a conservative assumption on rents accruing to the workers. Much empirical work has of course been devoted to estimating bargaining power within a wage equation framework. For example Abowd and Lemieux (1993) estimated a workers' share of rents of about 30% in Canada.

wage movements in the case of a positive demand shock, but due to the symmetry of the model, also to larger wage declines when the shock is negative. Therefore, higher wage movements translate also into larger movements in marginal costs and thus larger responses in inflation.

5.2 Employment Protection

European labor markets are characterized by lower job turnover rates than their U.S. counterpart, see e.g. Burda and Wyplosz (1994).²⁹ This is conventionally interpreted as stemming from higher employment protection and firing costs in Europe. On the one hand, employment protection leads firms to be more cautious in filling vacancies and on the other hand reduces involuntary separations. Lower job flows in our model correspond to a lower job destruction rate. For that reason we model employment protection simply through its effect on aggregate job flows. This neglects, however, the direct effect of employment protection on the bargaining position of workers and hence the impact on wages.

Figure 8 displays the responses of unemployment and inflation to a monetary policy shock when we vary the rate of exogenous job destruction. In a regime with lower job turnover, i.e. lower job destruction rates, unemployment reacts less to an adverse interest rate shock since aggregate labor flows are lower.³⁰ A lower job destruction rate reduces aggregate job creation and elevates the volatility in real wages.³¹ Larger adjustments on the wage margin dampen aggregate wage persistence. The response of inflation to a monetary policy shock appears to be more pronounced and less persistent. This in turn means that in the case of high aggregate labor flows, wage adjustments tend to be small and thus translate into smaller and more persistent movements of the inflation rate.³²

The analysis has shown that any "institutional" parameter that raises the volatility in wages, increases also the response of inflation and tends to reduce its persistence.

²⁹ A prominent exception is, however, the comparison of the U.S. and the Portuguese labor flows as documented in Blanchard and Portugal (2001).

³⁰ Note that the empirical evidence of a relationship between employment protection and unemployment is rather mixed, see e.g. Nickell and Layard (1999).

³¹ Notice that the effect on wages would be potentially larger if we had a direct channel of employment protection on the bargained wage outcome in our model.

³² In a similar vein, an increase in the natural rate of unemployment surges equilibrium job flows. Less adjustment takes place on the wage margin and, therefore, raises wage and hence inflation persistence.

On the other hand, anything that spurs the volatility in labor flows dampens the adjustments of wages and, therefore, tends to increase the persistence in inflation. This, however, is partly due to the simplistic modelling of labor market institutions in this model. Employment protection as well as bargaining power are usually associated with exerting an upward pressure on wages with downward rigidity at the same time. Since in our model wages react symmetrically, higher bargaining power results in stronger wage increases in the case of a positive shock and in larger reductions in the case of a negative shock, respectively. A better account of labor market institutions and their implications for unemployment and inflation dynamics in this model, is a task to be taken up in further research.

6 Conclusions

We include a labor market with wage rigidities as well as matching frictions into the New Keynesian model. In particular, we follow the approach by Trigari (2003) assuming that workers and firms bargain over wages according to a right-to-manage bargaining model. We extend the Trigari setting by incorporating wage rigidity into the right-to-manage bargaining framework which has important implications for the joint dynamics of unemployment and inflation in our New Keynesian DSGE model. The model sheds light on the question whether the specific form of wage bargaining and the degree of wage rigidity affects the transmission process of monetary policy determining inflation dynamics.

The traditional New Keynesian dynamic stochastic general equilibrium model of business cycle fluctuations generally fails to account for the degree of inflation persistence observed in actual data. Employing a right-to-manage bargaining framework, wages feed directly into firm's marginal cost and hence into inflation dynamics via the New Keynesian Phillips curve. Introducing a wage rigidity in form of a Hall type wage norm, we can show that more rigid wages translate into more persistent movements of aggregate inflation. In contrast, the channel from wages to inflation is missing under the assumption of an efficient bargaining model and, therefore, fails to generate inflation persistence.

Our calibration also shows that unemployment and inflation dynamics do not only depend on rigid wages but also on the parameters that determine employment protection, bargaining power of workers and the natural rate of unemployment. Generally, "institutional" parameters that raise the volatility in wages, increase also the response of inflation and tend to reduce its persistence. On the other hand, anything that spurs the volatility in labor flows, dampens the adjustments of wages and, therefore, tends to increase the persistence in inflation.

The model reveals that the labor market has important implications for the transmission process of monetary policy. The inclusion of a labor market into the New Keynesian model introduces another channel along which real and nominal rigidities can be incorporated into the model. The "labor market channel" significantly affects the dynamics of employment and inflation. In particular, real wage rigidity appears to play a key role in shaping marginal cost dynamics and, consequently persistent movement in inflation rates. Our model suggests that the central bank may benefit from closely monitoring the labor market. From the developments in real labor flows as well as real wage movements the central bank can infer on the dynamics and particularly, on the degree of persistence of the inflation rate. Therefore, differences in labor market regimes may help to explain inflation dynamics across countries.

The theoretical results in our paper depend on the specific parameter choice in the model's calibration. In a companion paper, Christoffel, Küster, and Linzert (2005), the parameters of the model are estimated to make a quantitative assessment of the model. In particular, we analyze the role of labor labor market rigidities for the transmission of monetary policy. The estimated model allows us to make explicit statements on the importance of wage rigidities for inflation dynamics. Moreover, we shed light on the relevance of labor market shocks for business cycle dynamics and monetary policy in particular.

References

- ABOWD, J., AND T. LEMIEUX (1993): "The Effect of Product Market Competition on Collective Bargaining Agreements: The Case of Foreign Competition in Canada," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 108, 983–1004.
- ANDERSON, G., AND G. MOORE (1985): "A Linear Algebraic Procedure for Solving Linear Perfect Foresight Models," *Economics Letters*, 17, 247–52.
- ANDOLFATTO, D. (1996): "Business Cycles and Labor-Market Search," American Economic Review, 86(1), 112–132.
- ANDREWS, D., AND W. CHEN (1994): "Approximately Median-Unbiased Estimation of Autoregressive Models," Journal of Business and Economics Statistics, 12, 187– 204.
- AUCREMANNE, L., AND E. DHYNE (2004): "How Frequently Do Prices Change? Evidence Based on Micro Data Underlying the Belgian CPI," Working Paper 331, European Central Bank.
- BAUDRY, L., H. L. BIHAN, P. SEVESTRE, AND S. TARRIEU (2004): "Price Rigidity: Evidence from the French CPI Micro-Data," Working Paper 384, European Central Bank.
- BAUER, T., H. BONIN, AND U. SUNDE (2003): "Real and Nominal Wage Rigidities and the Rate of Inflation: Evidence from German Micro Data," *IZA-Working Paper*, 959.
- BEWLEY, T. (1999): Why Wages Don't Fall During a Recession. Harvard University Press, Cambridge.
- BLANCHARD, O. J., AND J. GALI (2005): "Real Wage Rigidities and the New Keynesian Model," mimeo.
- BLANCHARD, O. J., AND P. PORTUGAL (2001): "What Hides Behind an Unemployment Rate: Comparing Portuguese and US Unemployment," *American Economic Review*, 91(1), 187–207.
- BLANCHARD, O. J., AND J. WOLFERS (2000): "The Role of Shocks and Institutions in the Rise of European Unemployment: The Aggregate Evidence," *The Economic Journal*, 111, 1–33.

- BLINDER, A. S. (1994): "On Sticky Prices: Academic Theories Meet the Real World," in *Monetary Policy*, ed. by G. N. Mankiw. Chicago University Press.
- BLINDER, A. S., E. CANETTI, D. LEBOW, AND R. RUDD (1996): Asking about Prices: A New Approach to Understand Price Stickiness. Russel Sage Foundation, New York.
- BOERI, T., AND M. C. BURDA (2003): "Preferences for Rigid versus Individualized Wage Setting in Search Economies with Firing Frictions," mimeo.
- BURDA, M., AND C. WYPLOSZ (1994): "Gross Worker and Job Flows in Europe," European Economic Review, 38, 1287–1315.
- CALVO, G. (1989): "Staggered Prices in a Utility Maximising Framework," *Journal* of Monetary Economics, 12, 383–398.
- CARLTON, D. (1986): "The Rigidity of Prices," American Economic Review, 76(4), 637–658.
- CHRISTIANO, L. J., M. EICHENBAUM, AND C. L. EVANS (2005): "Nominal Rigidities and the Dynamic Effects of a Shock to Monetary Policy," *Journal of Political Economy*, 113(1), 1–45.
- CHRISTOFFEL, K., K. KÜSTER, AND T. LINZERT (2005): "The Impact of Labor Markets on the Transmission of Monetary Policy in an Estimated DSGE Model," mimeo.
- DANTHINE, J.-P., AND A. KURMANN (2004): "Fair Wages in a New Keynesian Model of the Business Cycle," *Review of Economic Dynamics*, 7, 107–142.
- DESSY, O. (2004): "Nominal Wage Flexibility and Institutions: Micro-evidence from the Europanel," mimeo, University of Milan.
- DIAS, M., D. DIAS, AND P. D. NEVES (2004): "Stylised Features of Price Setting Behavior in Portugal: 1992-2001," Working Paper 332, European Central Bank.
- DRISCOLL, J. C., AND S. HOLDEN (2004): "Fairness and Inflation Persistence," Journal of European Economic Association Papers and Proceedings, 2(2-3), 240–251.
- EDGE, R. M., T. LAUBACH, AND J. C. WILLIAMS (2003): "The Response of Wages and Prices to Technology Shocks," *FRBSF Working Paper*.

- ERCEG, C., J. D. W. HENDERSON, AND A. T. LEVIN (2000): "Optimal Monetary Policy with Staggered Wage and Price Contracts," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 46, 281–313.
- FABIANI, S., A. GATTULLI, AND R. SABBATINI (2004): "The Pricing Behaviour of Italian Firms: New Survey Evidence on Price Stickiness," Working Paper 333, European Central Bank.
- FUHRER, J. C., AND G. MOORE (1995): "Inflation Persistence," The Quarterly Journal of Economics, February 1995, 127–159.
- GADZINSKI, G., AND F. ORLANDI (2003): "Inflation Persistence for the EU Countries the EURO Area and the US," mimeo, European Central Bank.
- GALI, J., AND M. GERTLER (1999): "Inflation Dynamics: A Structural Econometric Analysis," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 44, 195–222.
- GALI, J., M. GERTLER, AND D. LOPEZ-SALIDO (2001): "European Inflation Dynamics," European Economic Review, 45, 1237–1270.
- HALL, R. E. (2003): "Wage Determination and Employment Fluctuations," Working Paper 9967, NBER.
- (2004): "The Labor Market is the Key to Understanding the Business Cycle," mimeo.
- (2005): "Employment Fluctuations with Equilibrium Wage Stickiness," American Economic Review, 95(1), 50–65.
- HONDROYIANNIS, G., AND S. LAZARETOU (2004): "Inflation Persistence During Periods of Structural Change: An Assessment Using Greek Data," Working Paper 370, European Central Bank.
- KNOPPIK, C., AND T. BEISSINGER (2003): "How Rigid are Nominal Wages? Evidence and Implications for Germany," *Scandinavian Journal of Economics*, 105(4), 619– 641.
- KRAUSE, M. U., AND T. A. LUBIK (2003): "The (Ir)relevance of Real Wage Rigidity in the New Keynesian Model with Search Frictions," mimeo.

- LINZERT, T. (2005): "The Unemployment Inflation Trade-Off in the Euro Area," mimeo.
- MACDONALD, I., AND R. M. SOLOW (1981): "Wage Bargaining and Employment," American Economic Review, 71, 896–908.
- MARQUES, C. R. (2004): "Inflation Persistence: Facts or Artefacts?," Working Paper 371, European Central Bank.
- MERZ, M. (1995): "Search in the Labor Market and the Real Business Cycle," *Journal* of Monetary Economics, 36(2), 269–300.
- MORTENSEN, D., AND C. PISSARIDES (1994): "Job Creation and Job Destruction in the Theory of Unemployment," *Review of Economic Studies*, 61, 397–415.
- (1999): "Job Reallocation, Employment Fluctuations, and Unemployment Differences," in *Handbook of Macroeconomics*, ed. by J. Taylor, and M. Woodford, pp. 1171–1228. Elsevier Science.
- NICKELL, S. J., AND M. ANDREWS (1983): "Unions, Real Wage and Employment in Britain 1951-79," Oxford Economic Papers, 35, suppl., 183–206.
- NICKELL, S. J., AND R. LAYARD (1999): "Labour Market Institutions and Economic Performance," in *Handbook of Labor Economics*, ed. by O. Ashenfelter, and D. Card. North Holland.
- NICKELL, S. J., L. NUNZIATA, W. OCHEL, AND G. QUINTINI (2003): "The Beveridge Curve, Unemployment and Wages in the OECD from the 1960s to the 1990s," in *Knowledge, Information and Expectations in Modern Macroeconomics: In Honor* of Edmund S. Phelps, ed. by P. Aghion, R. Frydman, J. Stiglitz, and M. Woodford. Princeton University Press.
- PISSARIDES, C. A. (2000): Equilibrium Unemployment. MIT Press, second edn.
- ROTEMBERG, J. J., AND M. WOODFORD (1998): "An Optimization-Based Econometric Framework for the Evaluation of Monetary Policy: Expanded Version," *NBER: Technical Working Paper*, 223.
- SHIMER, R. (2005): "The Cyclical Behavior of Equilibrium Unemployment, Vacancies and Wages: Evidence and Theory," *American Economic Review*, 95(1), 25–49.

- SMITH, J. C. (2000): "Nominal Wage Rigidity in the United Kingdom," *Economic Journal*, 110, C176–C195.
- TAYLOR, J. B. (1999): Staggered Price and Wage Setting in Macroeconomics. Taylor, J Woodford, M. eds., North-Holland: Elsevier, in handbook of macroeconomics, vol. 1 edn.
- TRIGARI, A. (2003): "Labor Market Search, Wage Bargaining and Inflation Dynamics," mimeo.
- UHLIG, H. (2004): "Macroeconomics and Asset Markets: Some Mutual Implications," mimeo, Humboldt University Berlin.
- WALSH, C. (2003): "Labor Market Search and Monetary Shocks," in *Elements of Dynamic Macroeconomics*, ed. by J. Altug, J. Chadha, and C. Nolan. Cambridge University Press.
- YASHIV, E. (2004): "Macroeconomic Policy Lessons of Labor Market Frictions," European Economic Review, 48, 259–284.

A Appendix

Parameter	Description	Value
δ	Exogenously imposed wage rigidity	0
$ ho_m$	AR coefficient in monetary policy rule	0.9
γ_{π}	Coefficient on π_{t+1} in monetary policy rule	1.5
γ_y	Coefficient on y_t in monetary policy rule	0.5
σ	Coefficient of relative risk aversion	1.5
φ	$1 - \varphi$: reset prob in stagg. price setting	0.68
β	Time discount factor	0.99
α	Labor elasticity in production funct.	0.667
ϕ	Disutility of work	5
ρ	Exponent in matching function	0.9
ϱ_m	Scaling factor in matching function	0.4
ρ	Exogenous separation rate	0.08
η	Bargaining power	0.5
n	Steady-state non-employed workers	0.2

Table 2: Calibration for Benchmark Model without Wage Rigidity ($\delta = 0$)

Figure 4: Variance Decomposition of German CPI Inflation



Notes: We estimate a VAR on quarterly data from 1978 to 2003 for German data using the empirical counterparts of the observed variables of our empirical model. Notice that similar results are obtained with U.S. data. The VAR is given by:

$$X_t = \alpha + \Theta_1 X_{t-1} + \ldots + \Theta_p X_{t-p} + \varepsilon_t \tag{34}$$

where ε is assumed to be an *i.i.d.* error term with zero mean and constant variance. The vector of endogenous variables is given by:

$$X_t = [i, y, v, e, u, wr, h, \pi]$$

$$(35)$$

denoting the interest rate, real income, vacancies, employment, unemployment, real wages, hours and inflation, respectively. All specification in logs and linearly detrended. Inflation is computed using the consumer price index. The augmented Dickey Fuller unit root test confirmed that all transformed variables were stationary. We estimate our VAR using one lag and also include a dummy for the unification break (first quarter in 1990) into VAR model. We use a simple Cholesky decomposition, i.e. an orthogonalized form of the covariance matrix to identify the shocks in the model. The problem of such an identification scheme is arbitrariness of the restrictions imposed in the sense that any ordering of the variables achieves identification of the system. We tried to order the variables according to the reasoning how a monetary policy shock is likely to be transmitted in our model, see Section 3.5. Note, however, that the results are robust to changes in the ordering of the data.

Figure 5: Impulse-Response Functions of a Monetary Policy Shock from Calibrated Model in an Efficient Bargaining Regime



(e) Response of Hours of Work

(f) Response of Inflation

Notes: The dashed line corresponds to the impulse-responses of the efficient bargaining without exogenously imposed wage rigidity, i.e. $\delta = 0$, see Equation (23). The solid line displays the impulse-response function of the efficient bargaining model with wage rigidity of $\delta = 0.9$. Notice that this is not an implausible value as it corresponds to an estimated AR(1) coefficient for an univariate real wage equation for U.S. and German data.

Figure 6: Impulse-Response Functions of a Monetary Policy Shock from Calibrated Model in a Right-to-Manage Bargaining Regime



(e) Response of Hours of Work

(f) Response of Inflation

Notes: The dashed line corresponds to the impulse-responses of the right-to-manage model without exogenously imposed wage rigidity, i.e. $\delta = 0$, see Equation (23). The solid line displays the impulse-response function of the right to manage model with wage rigidity of $\delta = 0.9$. Notice that this is not an implausible value as it corresponds to an estimated AR(1) coefficient for an univariate real wage equation for U.S. and German data.

Figure 7: Impulse-Response Functions of a Monetary Policy Shock from Calibrated Model with Decreased Workers' Bargaining Power



Notes: The dashed line corresponds to the impulse-responses of the right-to-manage model with wage rigidity of $\delta = 0.9$. The solid line displays the impulse-response function of the model with a decrease from 0.5 to 0.03 in worker's bargaining power.

Figure 8: Impulse-Response Functions of a Monetary Policy Shock from Calibrated Model with Lower Job Destruction



(b) Unemployment

Notes: The dashed line corresponds to the impulse-responses of the right-to-manage model with wage rigidity of $\delta = 0.9$. The solid line displays the impulse-response function of the model with job destruction lowered from 8 percent to 0.1 percent.

The following Discussion Papers have been published since 2005:

Series 1: Economic Studies

1	2005	Financial constraints and capacity adjustment in the United Kingdom – Evidence from a	Ulf von Kalckreuth
		large panel of survey data	Emma Murphy
2	2005	Common stationary and non-stationary	F
_		factors in the euro area analyzed in a	
		large-scale factor model	Sandra Eickmeier
3	2005	Financial intermediaries, markets, and growth	F. Fecht, K. Huang, A. Martin
4	2005	The New Keynesian Phillips Curve	
·	2000	in Europe: does it fit or does it fail?	Peter Tillmann
5	2005	Taxes and the financial structure	Fred Ramb
		of German inward FDI	A. J. Weichenrieder
6	2005	International diversification at home	Fang Cai
		and abroad	Francis E. Warnock
7	2005	Multinational enterprises, international trade,	
		and productivity growth: Firm-level evidence	Wolfgang Keller
		from the United States	Steven R. Yeaple
8	2005	Location choice and employment	S. O. Becker,
		decisions: a comparison of German	K. Ekholm, R. Jäckle,
		and Swedish multinationals	MA. Muendler
9	2005	Business cycles and FDI:	Claudia M. Buch
		evidence from German sectoral data	Alexander Lipponer
10	2005	Multinational firms, exclusivity,	Ping Lin
		and the degree of backward linkages	Kamal Saggi

11	2005	Firm-level evidence on international stock market comovement	Robin Brooks Marco Del Negro
12	2005	The determinants of intra-firm trade: in search for export-import magnification effects	Peter Egger Michael Pfaffermayr
13	2005	Foreign direct investment, spillovers and absorptive capacity: evidence from quantile regressions	Sourafel Girma Holger Görg
14	2005	Learning on the quick and cheap: gains from trade through imported expertise	James R. Markusen Thomas F. Rutherford
15	2005	Discriminatory auctions with seller discretion: evidence from German treasury auctions	Jörg Rocholl
16	2005	Consumption, wealth and business cycles: why is Germany different?	B. Hamburg, M. Hoffmann, J. Keller
17	2005	Tax incentives and the location of FDI: evidence from a panel of German multinationals	Thiess Buettner Martin Ruf
18	2005	Monetary Disequilibria and the Euro/Dollar Exchange Rate	Dieter Nautz Karsten Ruth
19	2005	Berechnung trendbereinigter Indikatoren für Deutschland mit Hilfe von Filterverfahren	Stefan Stamfort
20	2005	How synchronized are central and east European economies with the euro area? Evidence from a structural factor model	Sandra Eickmeier Jörg Breitung
21	2005	Asymptotic distribution of linear unbiased estimators in the presence of heavy-tailed stochastic regressors and residuals	JR. Kurz-Kim S.T. Rachev G. Samorodnitsky

22	2005	The Role of Contracting Schemes for the Welfare Costs of Nominal Rigidities over	
		the Business Cycle	Matthias Paustian
23	2005	The cross-sectional dynamics of German business cycles: a bird's eye view	J. Döpke, M. Funke S. Holly, S. Weber
24	2005	Forecasting German GDP using alternative factor models based on large datasets	Christian Schumacher
25	2005	Time-dependent or state-dependent price setting? – micro-evidence from German metal-working industries –	Harald Stahl
26	2005	Money demand and macroeconomic uncertainty	Claus Greiber Wolfgang Lemke
27	2005	In search of distress risk	J. Y. Campbell, J. Hilscher, J. Szilagyi
28	2005	Recursive robust estimation and control without commitment	Lars Peter Hansen Thomas J. Sargent
29	2005	Asset pricing implications of Pareto optimality with private information	N. R. Kocherlakota Luigi Pistaferri
30	2005	Ultra high frequency volatility estimation with dependent microstructure noise	Y. Aït-Sahalia, P. A. Mykland, L. Zhang
31	2005	Umstellung der deutschen VGR auf Vorjahres- preisbasis – Konzept und Konsequenzen für die aktuelle Wirtschaftsanalyse sowie die ökono- metrische Modellierung	Karl-Heinz Tödter

32	2005	Determinants of current account developments in the central and east European EU member states – consequences for the enlargement of the euro erea	Sabine Herrmann Axel Jochem
33	2005	An estimated DSGE model for the German economy within the euro area	Ernest Pytlarczyk
34	2005	Rational inattention: a research agenda	Christopher A. Sims
35	2005	Monetary policy with model uncertainty: distribution forecast targeting	Lars E.O. Svensson Noah Williams
36	2005	Comparing the value revelance of R&D report- ing in Germany: standard and selection effects	Fred Ramb Markus Reitzig
37	2005	European inflation expectations dynamics	J. Döpke, J. Dovern U. Fritsche, J. Slacalek
38	2005	Dynamic factor models	Sandra Eickmeier Jörg Breitung
39	2005	Short-run and long-run comovement of GDP and some expenditure aggregates in Germany, France and Italy	Thomas A. Knetsch
40	2005	A"wreckers theory" of financial distress	Ulf von Kalckreuth
41	2005	Trade balances of the central and east European EU member states and the role of foreign direct investment	Sabine Herrmann Axel Jochem
42	2005	Unit roots and cointegration in panels	Jörg Breitung M. Hashem Pesaran
43	2005	Price setting in German manufacturing: new evidence from new survey data	Harald Stahl

1	2006	The dynamic relationship between the Euro overnight rate, the ECB's policy rate and the term spread	Dieter Nautz Christian J. Offermanns
2	2006	Sticky prices in the euro area: a summary of new micro evidence	Álvarez, Dhyne, Hoeberichts Kwapil, Le Bihan, Lünnemann Martins, Sabbatini, Stahl Vermeulen, Vilmunen
3	2006	Going multinational: What are the effects on home market performance?	Robert Jäckle
4	2006	Exports versus FDI in German manufacturing: firm performance and participation in inter- national markets	Jens Matthias Arnold Katrin Hussinger
5	2006	A disaggregated framework for the analysis of structural developments in public finances	Kremer, Braz, Brosens Langenus, Momigliano Spolander
6	2006	Bond pricing when the short term interest rate follows a threshold process	Wolfgang Lemke Theofanis Archontakis
7	2006	Has the impact of key determinants of German exports changed? Results from estimations of Germany's intra euro-area and extra euro-area exports	Kerstin Stahn
8	2006	The coordination channel of foreign exchange intervention: a nonlinear microstructural analysis	Stefan Reitz Mark P. Taylor
9	2006	Capital, labour and productivity: What role do they play in the potential GDP weakness of France, Germany and Italy?	Antonio Bassanetti Jörg Döpke, Roberto Torrini Roberta Zizza
10	2006	Real-time macroeconomic data and ex ante predictability of stock returns	J. Döpke, D. Hartmann C. Pierdzioch

11	2006	The role of real wage rigidity and labor market		
		frictions for unemployment and inflation	Kai Christoffel	
		dynamics	Tobias Linzert	

Series 2: Banking and Financial Studies

1	2005	Measurement matters – Input price proxies and bank efficiency in Germany	Michael Koetter
2	2005	The supervisor's portfolio: the market price risk of German banks from 2001 to 2003 – Analysis and models for risk aggregation	Christoph Memmel Carsten Wehn
3	2005	Do banks diversify loan portfolios? A tentative answer based on individual bank loan portfolios	Andreas Kamp Andreas Pfingsten Daniel Porath
4	2005	Banks, markets, and efficiency	F. Fecht, A. Martin
5	2005	The forecast ability of risk-neutral densities of foreign exchange	Ben Craig Joachim Keller
6	2005	Cyclical implications of minimum capital requirements	Frank Heid
7	2005	Banks' regulatory capital buffer and the business cycle: evidence for German savings and cooperative banks	Stéphanie Stolz Michael Wedow
8	2005	German bank lending to industrial and non- industrial countries: driven by fundamentals or different treatment?	Thorsten Nestmann
9	2005	Accounting for distress in bank mergers	M. Koetter, J. Bos, F. Heid C. Kool, J. Kolari, D. Porath
10	2005	The eurosystem money market auctions: a banking perspective	Nikolaus Bartzsch Ben Craig, Falko Fecht
11	2005	Financial integration and systemic risk	Falko Fecht Hans Peter Grüner

12	2005	Evaluating the German bank merger wave	Michael Koetter
13	2005	Incorporating prediction and estimation risk in point-in-time credit portfolio models	A. Hamerle, M. Knapp, T. Liebig, N. Wildenauer
14	2005	Time series properties of a rating system based on financial ratios	U. Krüger, M. Stötzel, S. Trück
15	2005	Inefficient or just different? Effects of heterogeneity on bank efficiency scores	J. Bos, F. Heid, M. Koetter, J. Kolatri, C. Kool
01	2006	Forecasting stock market volatility with macroeconomic variables in real time	J. Döpke, D. Hartmann C. Pierdzioch

Visiting researcher at the Deutsche Bundesbank

The Deutsche Bundesbank in Frankfurt is looking for a visiting researcher. Among others under certain conditions visiting researchers have access to a wide range of data in the Bundesbank. They include micro data on firms and banks not available in the public. Visitors should prepare a research project during their stay at the Bundesbank. Candidates must hold a Ph D and be engaged in the field of either macroeconomics and monetary economics, financial markets or international economics. Proposed research projects should be from these fields. The visiting term will be from 3 to 6 months. Salary is commensurate with experience.

Applicants are requested to send a CV, copies of recent papers, letters of reference and a proposal for a research project to:

Deutsche Bundesbank Personalabteilung Wilhelm-Epstein-Str. 14

D - 60431 Frankfurt GERMANY